THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Perry H. Gravely, Circuit Court Judge

Case No: 2024-CP-23-01663

Appellate Case No. 2025-001252

In the Matter of the Estate of William Rhett Taber, Jr.

William Rhett Taber, III, Respondent,

v.

Thomas Neel Taber as Personal Representative of the Estate of William Rhett Taber, Jr.,
Thomas Nee Taber, individually, Anne C. Taber, Robert Fishburne Taber, Paul Kershaw
Taber, Andrew Patton Taber, Michael Tyndall, Appellants.

APPELLANTS' FINAL BRIEF

s/ Jeffrey P. Dunlaevy
Jeffrey P. Dunlaevy (SC Bar No. 16978)
Dunlaevy Law Firm
37 Villa Road, Suite 440
Greenville SC 29615
864.208.9305

ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the Respondent prove by clear and convincing evidence that a mistake of fact resulted in a specific error in the decedent's duly executed will?
2. May a Probate Court reform a will, based on an alleged mistake of fact, where the proof offered to establish the alleged mistake of fact is a property appraisal obtained in the course of the probate litigation by a disgruntled beneficiary?
3. May a Probate Court reform a will, based on an alleged mistake of fact, where the testator was notified of the alleged mistake after executing his will, had multiple opportunities to revise or replace the will, met with an estate planning attorney, but ultimately chose not to make any changes?
4. Assuming Respondent proved by clear and convincing evidence that a mistake of fact resulted in a specific error in the decedent's duly executed will, did the Probate Court err in substituting an unsigned pre-engagement term sheet, prepared by a lawyer who was never retained by the decedent, in place of the decedent's duly executed will?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal arises from a Probate Court decision ordering the reformation of a will based on an alleged mistake of fact, pursuant to S.C. Code § 62-2-601(B). Decedent William Rhett Taber Jr., died on July 16, 2019. He was predeceased by his wife Anne Fishburne Taber and one of his seven children, Caroline Taber Tyndall (Caroline). He was succeeded by his remaining six children, William Rhett Taber III (Respondent), Thomas Neel Taber (Tom), Ann Clayburn Taber (Ann), Robert Fishburn Taber (Bob), Paul Kershaw Taber (Paul), and Patton Andrew Taber (Pat).

Decedent's Last Will and Testament was duly executed on July 23, 2015. (R. pp. 530-35.) The 2015 Will bequeathed Decedent's estate, which consisted mostly of real estate holdings, to his six living children and the heirs of his pre-deceased daughter Caroline. (Id.) Tom was named the Personal Representative of Decedent's estate. (Id.) All of the recipients under the 2015 Will acknowledged its legitimacy except Respondent.

Tom filed an Informal Application for Probate of Will and Appointment with the Probate Court on August 8, 2019. Tom was appointed by the Probate Court as the Personal Representative of the estate on August 26, 2019. Respondent filed a Petition on June 5, 2020, contesting the validity of the 2015 Will and seeking its reformation pursuant to S.C. Code § 62-2-601(B). (R. pp. 37-45.) Respondent argued that Decedent made a mistake of fact resulting in the reduction of Respondent's share of the estate. (Respondent also contested the 2015 Will based on undue influence and brought a creditor's claim against the estate. The Probate Court ruled against Respondent as to both claims and he has not appealed either determination.)

The Probate Court heard testimony in a three-day hearing conducted on February 12, 13 and 14, 2024. Following the completion of testimony, the Probate Court issued an Order dated

March 7, 2024. (R. pp. 5-12.) Upon discovery of a typographical error, the Probate Court filed an Amended Order on March 12, 2024. (R. pp. 13-20.)

The Probate Court concluded that the 2015 Will should be reformed because Respondent's inheritance was "improperly reduced based upon a mistake of fact in the inducement." (R. p. 18.) The Probate Court determined that the proper remedy was to replace the distribution of assets in the 2015 Will with the proposed distribution set forth in a memorandum prepared three weeks before Decedent's death by Attorney Jackie Patterson (Patterson Memo). (R. pp. 19-20.)

Appellants timely appealed the Probate Court's ruling to the Circuit Court, and the matter was briefed and argued before the Honorable Perry Gravely. In an Order dated March 16, 2025, Judge Gravely affirmed the Probate Court. (R. pp. 21-33.) Appellants filed a timely motion to reconsider, alter or amend under SCRCP 59(e), which motion was denied in a Form 4 Order on May 27, 2025. (R. pp. 34-36.) Appellants timely filed a Notice of Appeal to this Court on June 23, 2025. (R. p. 691.)

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. Events Leading to the Execution of the 2015 Will

In or about January 2015, Decedent met with his estate planning attorney Jack Howard to plan for the distribution of his assets to his children. (R. p. 103, line 11-p. 105, line 5.) Decedent owned nine pieces of real estate at that time. (R. p. 527.) Over several years, he had borrowed money from Respondent, who was determined to ensure that Decedent's distribution plan included repayment of principal and interest in connection with those loans. (R. p. 225, line 5-p. 226, line 9.) After several discussions between them, Decedent and Respondent agreed that the amount of debt to be satisfied would be \$340,000. (R. p. 14.) Accordingly, Decedent, with the assistance of

Attorney Howard, set out to create a division of property that would settle his \$340,000 debt to Respondent and provide an inheritance for his children.

Decedent kept hand-written notes of the value of his real estate holdings. In or about January 2015, he asked Tom to type up his notes. (R. p. 170, lines 1-22; p. 199, lines 4-22.) Tom created a three-page document reflecting the information in Decedent's notes. (R. p. 170, lines 1-22.) None of the trial witnesses testified that Tom substituted his own opinions for Decedent's or otherwise changed any information in the course of transferring Decedent's handwritten notes into the Spreadsheet.

The Spreadsheet's first page showed the real property Decedent then owned, with valuations for each: a column showing "Pop's Value" as reflected in Decedent's hand-written notes, a column entitled "Posted Fair Market Value" (which Tom added as a "sanity check" against Decedent's value), and a column showing the Zillow value for some of the properties. (R. p. 527.) That page also contained notes showing the source of some of Pop's Value figures as well as notation of the \$340,000 debt that Decedent owed Respondent and valuations of certain properties owned by other family members. (Id.)

The second page of the Spreadsheet showed various land swap scenarios between Decedent and Respondent. (R. p. 528.) It is undisputed that none of these hypothetical transactions was ever consummated.

The third page showed a proposed distribution of Decedent's properties that partially tracked the distribution that ended up in the 2015 will. (R. p. 529.) It also contained a table reflecting a proposed inheritance to each child of \$305,892 except Respondent, whose proposed share is reflected as \$26,650. (Id.) That table does not match the proposed distribution of properties at the top of the third page or the property values on the first page. (R. p. 527; p. 529.)

It also does not match the actual distribution in the 2015 will. (R. p. 530-32.) It appears to have been an entirely hypothetical exercise.

Tom gave the Spreadsheet to Attorney Howard in January, following which there were several months of meetings, discussions, and adjustments to Decedent's distribution plan. (R. p. 101, line 11-p. 102, line 14; p. 526.) Respondent participated in some of the meetings, including one meeting that featured heated arguments among the siblings. (R. p. 102, lines 11-14, p. 104, lines 17-23.)

Attorney Howard was the only participant in this process with no stake in this litigation. He testified that Decedent used the Spreadsheet as "a good way to get started" but then spent months deliberating over how to distribute his real estate holdings. (R. p. 103, line 5-p. 104, line 23.) Decedent and Attorney Howard met repeatedly during the first half of 2015, sometimes with and sometimes without Decedent's children. (R. p. 101, line 15-p. 102, line 14.) Attorney Howard testified that Decedent knew that the final draft of his will did not treat each sibling equally from a purely monetary perspective and that Decedent intended it that way. (R. p. 109, line 5-p. 110, line 17; p. 124, lines 3-11.) Decedent specifically considered the financial circumstances of his children, including that Respondent was considerably more financially secure than some of his siblings. (R. p. 108, line 18-p. 109, line 4.)

B. Decedent's 2015 Transfer of Property to Respondent to Repay Debt

Eventually, after months of meetings and discussions, Decedent settled his debt to Respondent and executed his will in July 2015. To settle the debt, he split up a piece of property in Travelers Rest, South Carolina, and gave some 28.48 acres of it to Respondent. Notably, this split deviated from the proposed split set forth on the Spreadsheet. The Spreadsheet proposed a split into parcels of 41.71 and 12.7 acres. (R. p. 527.) However, what Decedent actually chose to

do was give the 28.48-acre tract to Respondent in 2015 and leave the remaining 25.93-acre tract in equal shares to all his children in the 2015 Will. (R. p. 385, lines 352-53.) In addition to the land, the 28.48-acre tract had an unfinished building and a variety of farm equipment that was also transferred to Respondent. (R. p. 207, line 19-p. 208, line 8.) Decedent also gave Respondent a property designated as Flat Rock Lot No. 8 as part of his repayment of debt. (R. p. 171, lines 20-23; p. 172, lines 1-4 & 18-21.)

Decedent’s valuation of these properties was as follows. He valued the entire 54.41-acre Travelers Rest property at \$761,800, or \$14,001.10 per acre. (R. p. 527.) Accordingly, his value assigned to the 28.48-acre lot he gave Respondent in 2015 was \$398,751.41. He valued Flat Rock Lot 8 at \$57,000. Thus, according to Decedent’s values, he paid a total of \$455,751.41 in exchange for the release of \$340,000 in debt, an overpayment of \$115,751.41. Perhaps not surprisingly, Decedent expressed the opinion he overpaid Respondent. (R. p. 92, lines 23-25; p. 107, lines 22-24; p. 124, line 25-p. 125, line 5.)

C. Decedent’s 2015 Will

The 2015 Will disposed of Decedent’s remaining property. The disposition of the eight pieces of real property to Decedent’s children was as follows:

<u>Property Description</u>	<u>Recipient (2015 Will)</u>
Grandma's Naples/Fletcher	Pat (R. pp. 530-32, ¶ VII.)
109 Lavinia, Greenville	Ann, Caroline, Tom (Id., ¶ II.)
Flat Rock Lot 1	Caroline (Id., ¶ III.)
Flat Rock Lot 7	Rhett (Id., ¶ IV.)
1924 Allen's Lane	Bob (Id., ¶ V.)
1944 Allen's Lane	Bob (Id., ¶ V.)

907 S. Lumina (Beach House) (half interest) ¹	Paul, Tom, Ann (Id., ¶ VI.)
Belvue School Road, Travelers Rest (25.93 acres)	Tom, Rhett, Ann, Pat, Paul, Bob (Id., ¶ IX.)

Decedent's opinion as to the values of each property are reflected in the Spreadsheet Tom prepared based on Decedent's notes. The chart below reflects such values as follows:

<u>Property Description</u>	<u>Decedent's Assigned Value</u>
Grandma's Naples/Fletcher	\$327,000 (R. p. 527.)
109 Lavinia, Greenville	\$233,000 (Id.)
Flat Rock Lot 1	\$70,000 (Id.)
Flat Rock Lot 7	\$45,000 (Id.)
1924 Allen's Lane	\$100,000 (Id.)
1944 Allen's Lane	\$212,000 (Id.)
907 S. Lumina (Beach House) (half interest)	\$875,000 (Id.)
Belvue School Road, Travelers Rest (25.93 acres)	\$363,000 (Id. (\$14,000/acre))
<u>Total</u>	<u>\$2,225,000</u>

Based on the bequest to each child, and the values set forth above, each child's share of the total value of the property in the estate, per the values Decedent listed in his notes, is as follows:

<u>Beneficiary</u>	<u>Bequest(s) - 2015 Will</u>	<u>Value</u>
Tom	1/6 of Beach House; 1/3 of 109 Lavinia; 1/6 of Farmhouse	\$429,833.34
Rhett	Flat Rock Lot 7; 1/6 of Farmhouse	\$105,500.00
Ann	1/6 of Beach House; 1/3 of 109 Lavinia; 1/6 of Farmhouse	\$429,833.34
Pat	Naples/Fletcher; 1/6 of Farmhouse	\$387,500.00

¹ Decedent owned one-half of the Beach House at 907 S. Lumina in Wrightsville Beach. (R. p. 235, lines 13-20.) Thus, although Decedent transferred his interest in three equal shares to Paul, Tom and Ann, each such share amounted to one-sixth, rather than one-third, of the total value.

Paul	1/6 of Beach House; 1/6 of Farmhouse	\$352,166.67
Bob	1924 & 1944 Allen's Lane; 1/6 of Farmhouse	\$372,500.00
Caroline	Flat Rock Lot 1; 1/3 of 109 Lavinia	\$147,666.67
<u>Total</u>		<u>\$2,225,000</u>

(R. p. 527; pp. 530-32 (¶¶ II-IX).)

D. Events Following Execution of the 2015 Will

Following Decedent’s execution of the 2015 Will, Respondent forcefully and repeatedly complained that he was not being treated fairly. For years, he urged Decedent to change the 2015 Will. (R. p. 232, line 25-p. 233, line 7; p. 234, lines 17-21.) For his part, Tom arranged for an appraisal of the Travelers Rest property. That appraisal was completed within six months of the execution of the 2015 Will, and Tom provided it to Decedent and to Respondent. (R. p. 182, line 19-p. 183, line 15.) It showed reflected a valuation of approximately \$11,400 per acre, or \$324,672, for the 28.48-acre tract. (Id.)

In all, within six months of executing the 2015 Will, Decedent had actual knowledge of at least three different valuations of the 28.48-acre tract he had conveyed to Respondent: the “Posted Fair Market Value” on the Spreadsheet (\$10,803 per acre or \$307,669.44 in total); the “Pop’s Value” on the Spreadsheet (\$14,001.11 per acre or \$398,751.41 in total); and Tom’s valuation in late 2015 (\$11,400 per acre or \$324,672 in total). (R. p. 182, line 19-p. 183, line 15; p. 527.)

Notwithstanding Respondent’s pressure campaign and the data showing that his personal valuation of the Traveler’s Rest property was higher than at least one appraisal and other objective data, Decedent did not change his will at any time between executing it in July 2015 and his death nearly four years later on July 16, 2019.

The high point of Respondent’s pressure campaign came in June 2019, just weeks before Decedent’s death. Decedent met with Attorney Jackie Patterson to discuss revising his will. (R.

p. 145, lines 3-9.) This meeting was preceded by repeated efforts by Respondent to convince Decedent to change his will and increase Respondent's inheritance. (R. p. 232, line 25-p. 233, line 7; p. 234, lines 7-21; p. 340, lines 9-17.) Unlike when the 2015 Will was prepared, the other children were not involved in the discussions and Decedent did not make careful revisions over a period of months. Instead, Decedent met only once with Patterson. (R. p. 154, line 15-p. 155, line 16.) He never signed the paperwork to retain her or executed a new will. The only documentation of their meeting is a memo prepared by Patterson.

Patterson testified that after her meeting with decedent, she prepared a written summary of the disposition of assets discussed in the meeting. (R. p. 146, lines 1-17; pp. 538-39.) She claims her office staff attempted to contact Decedent on several occasions and that she had the impression, based on what her office staff told her, that Decedent's daughter (Ann) was somehow impeding those efforts. (R. p. 150, line 20-p. 151, line 10; p. 155, lines 16-21.) She did not testify that either she or her staff actually spoke with Decedent to ascertain whether he wished to proceed with the drafting of a new will.

Ann was the only witness who testified from personal knowledge as to the communications with Patterson's office. Ann explained that she was with Decedent when he picked up the Patterson Memo at Patterson's office. (R. p. 263, lines 2-3.) When Decedent shared the contents of the document with her, Ann noted her disagreement with the changes because she felt the new distribution was too generous to her (it increased the value of property distributed to her by over \$30,000). (R. p. 263, line 21-p. 264, line 14.) Patterson's office later attempted to contact Decedent by calling his cell phone, the home phone and Ann's cell phone. (R. p. 254, line 7-p. 255, line 11.) Ann testified that Decedent was well aware of Patterson's office staff's attempts to contact him. (Id.) On one occasion she received a call when she was with Decedent, just days

before his death. (R. p. 266, lines 10-20.) The staff member offered to have Patterson come to the house for a new will to be signed. (Id.) She relayed that offer to Decedent and he “emphatically” declined. (Id.) Decedent died on July 16, 2019, without changing a single item in his 2015 Will.

The Patterson Memo Decedent chose not to sign had virtually nothing in common with the 2015 Will. The chart below reflects the differences between the two documents:

<u>Property Description</u>	<u>Recipient - 2015 Will</u>	<u>Recipient - Patterson</u>
Grandma's Naples/Fletcher	Pat	Tom, Rhett, Ann, Pat, Paul, Bob
109 Lavinia, Greenville	Ann, Caroline, Tom	Ann
Flat Rock Lot 1	Caroline	Tom
Flat Rock Lot 7	Rhett	Pat
1924 Allen's Lane	Bob	Paul
1944 Allen's Lane	Bob	Bob
907 S. Lumina	Paul, Tom, Ann	Paul, Pat, Tom, Ann, Bob
Belvue School Road, Travelers Rest (25.93 acres)	Tom, Rhett, Ann, Pat, Paul, Bob	Rhett

(R. pp. 530-32 (2015 Will); pp. 538-39 (Patterson Memo).)

As the chart above reflects, the Patterson memo purported to change the disposition of seven of the eight properties in the estate. Moreover, it would drastically change the financial value of the inheritance received by each beneficiary:

<u>Beneficiary</u>	<u>2015 Will Value</u>	<u>Patterson Value</u>	<u>Difference</u>
Tom	\$429,833.34	\$299,500.00	(\$130,333.34)
Rhett	\$105,500.00	\$417,500.00	\$ 312,000.00
Ann	\$429,833.34	\$462,500.00	\$32,666.66
Pat	\$387,500.00	\$274,500.00	(\$113,000.00)
Paul	\$352,166.67	\$329,500.00	(\$22,666.67)
Bob	\$372,500.00	\$441,500.00	\$69,000.00
Caroline	\$147,666.67	\$0	(\$147,666.67)
<u>Total</u>	<u>\$2,225,000</u>	<u>\$2,225,000</u>	<u>\$0</u>

(R. p. 527; pp. 530-32; pp. 538-39.) As the chart above reflects, the Patterson Memo would nearly quadruple the value of Respondent's inheritance, such that he would move from having the smallest monetary value to the second-largest. Meanwhile, each of the other siblings would see changes ranging from roughly \$30,000 to over \$100,000. In other words, each beneficiary would either lose or gain tens of thousands of dollars if the Patterson Memo replaces the 2015 Will.

Well after Decedent's death and after this litigation commenced, Respondent obtained an appraisal of the 28.48-acre Travelers Rest property from a certified appraiser, Alan McCravy. (R. pp. 595-622.) McCravy's appraisal came in at \$10,500 per acre, for a total of \$299,040. (R. p. 598.) However, McCravy expressly declined to appraise the structure on the property and did not consider the value of equipment that was transferred with it. (R. p. 436, line 19-p. 437, line 6.) Tom testified that the value of a structure on the property was at least \$25,000, two tractors conveyed with the property were worth a combined \$23,000, and other personal property was worth an additional \$10,000. (R. p. 207, line 19-p. 208, line 8.) Neither Respondent nor any other witness contested these valuations. Thus, for the McCravy appraisal to be used as an apples-to-apples comparison with the other valuations, those figures would need to be added, yielding a total appraised value of \$357,040. This is actually higher than the appraisal Tom provided to both Decedent and Respondent in late 2015. (R. p. 182, line 19-p. 183, line 11.)

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In an appeal from the Probate Court, the applicable standard depends on whether the underlying matter is legal or equitable. *Moore v. Moore (In re Est. of Moore)*, 435 S.C. 706, 709 (Ct. App. 2022). Actions to reform a legal instrument, as this case is, are equitable in nature. *56 Leinbach Inv'rs, LLC v. Magnolia Paradigm, Inc.*, 411 S.C. 466, 471 (Ct. App. 2014); *Crewe v. Blackmon*, 289 S.C. 229, 233 (Ct. App. 1986). The standard of review in equitable matters is *de*

novo. *In re Howard*, 315 S.C. 356, 362 (1993); *Regions Bank v. Wingard Props., Inc.*, 394 S.C. 241, 248 (Ct. App. 2011).

The standard applicable to the Probate Court was clear and convincing evidence. S.C. Code § 62-2-601(B). Accordingly, this Court may affirm the judgment of the courts below only if it finds, after *de novo* review, that Respondent proved his entitlement to relief under the reformation statute by clear and convincing evidence.

ARGUMENT

A. The evidence in the Record falls well short of establishing a mistake of fact by clear and convincing evidence.

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