THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
COURT OF COMMON PLEAS

Perry H. Gravely, Circuit Court Judge

Common Pleas Case No. 2024-CP-23-01663

Appellate Case No. 2025-001252

RECEIVED

Jan 09 2026

SC Court of Appeals

In the Matter of the Estate of William Rhett Taber, Jr.

William Rhett Taber, IIIRespondent

v.

Thomas Neel Taber as Personal Representative of the
Estate of William Rhett Taber, Jr., Thomas Neel Taber,
individually, Anne C. Taber, Robert Fishburne Taber,
Paul Kershaw Taber, Andrew Patton Taber, Michael Tyndall..... Appellants

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

David A. Wilson, (SC Bar # 65273)
WILSON & ENGLEBARDT, LLC

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

ARGUMENT

I. Appellants failed to preserve their arguments for appellate review.

“It is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge to be preserved for appellate review.” Wilder Corp. v. Wilke, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998). “There are four basic requirements to preserving issues at trial for appellate review. The issue must have been (1) raised to and ruled upon by the trial court, (2) raised by the appellant, (3) raised in a timely manner, and (4) raised to the trial court with sufficient specificity.” S.C. Dep’t of Transp. v. First Carolina Corp. of S.C., 372 S.C. 295, 641 S.E.2d 903, 907 (2007).

“When a trial court makes a general ruling on an issue but does not address the specific argument raised by a party, that party must make a Rule 59(e) motion asking the trial court to rule on the issue in order to preserve it for appeal.” Cowburn v. Leventis, 366 S.C. 20, 41, 619 S.E.2d

437, 449 (Ct. App. 2005). “If the losing party has raised an issue in the lower court, but the court fails to rule on it, the party must file a motion to alter or amend the judgment in order to preserve the issue for appellate review.” I’On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000).

Most of the arguments raised by Appellants in this appeal were not preserved for appellate review. In addition to not being preserved, Appellant’s arguments keep changing in an effort to resuscitate this appeal.

At trial, Appellants’ theory of the case was simply that there was no mistake in fact but, if there was a mistake, then Decedent ratified that mistake based upon silence. (ROA pp. 480-481, 516-517).

In their motion for directed verdict at the conclusion of Respondent’s case-in-chief, Appellants argued:

... there was a four year time period from 2015 when this will was drafted and signed until 2019. And we’ve had testimony from numerous witnesses that if Pop Taber wanted to go – go find a lawyer to draft a will, he could have found one. We’ve had, I – I believe at least seven lawyers mentioned that he dealt with on an estate plan basis and he could have called any one of them maybe accepting (sic) Charlie Stewart if he wasn’t living at that time and he could have re-done his will. And by not redoing the will, he ratified his will for four years. (ROA p. 480, l. 20- p. 481, l. 4).

In closing argument at trial, Appellants argued once again:

To summarize, the petitioner [Respondent] cannot prove to you by clear and convincing evidence that Pop’s intent would’ve been anything different than what is in his will. And even if they could, the court must consider that Pop ratified his will by not amending it. (ROA p. 516, ll. 14-19).

The Probate Court ruled against Appellants on both of their arguments raised at trial.

Appellants did not file a motion under Rule 52 or 59, SCRPC.

On appeal to the Circuit Court, Appellants added the following arguments:

- A. A Probate Court lacks authority to reform a will based on an expert appraisal not known to the Decedent, but instead generated in connection with litigation, concerning an item not even in the will.
 - B. Reformation of a will cannot be based on speculation that the testator's incorrect belief about the value of non-estate property caused him to shortchange a beneficiary in his will.
- ...
- D. The Probate Court erred in substituting an unsigned pre-engagement term sheet, prepared by a lawyer who was never retained by the decedent, in place of the decedent's duly executed will. (ROA p. 645).

As part of these new arguments, Appellants argued that the differences between the disposition of assets as provided by the 2015 Will and the disposition of assets as provided in the 2019 Patterson Correspondence somehow established an error in the Probate Court's findings or fact or conclusions of law. Once again, these arguments were not raised to and ruled upon by the Probate Court and Appellants did not file a motion pursuant to Rule 52 or 59, SCRCP. These arguments were not preserved.

In its brief to the Circuit Court (as well as the brief to the Court of Appeals), Appellants include various charts highlighting differences in allocations of assets between the Spreadsheet, The 2015 Will, and the 2019 Patterson Correspondence. The arguments purportedly supported by these various charts were not made to the Probate Court. Appellants advanced these arguments for the first time to the Circuit Court.

Having lost at the Circuit Court level, Appellants now assert the following new arguments to the Court of Appeals:

- B. A disgruntled beneficiary cannot override the intent of the Decedent by obtaining an appraisal that conflicts with the Decedent's assessment of the value of his own property.

Appellants are prohibited from changing their theory on appeal. See Hanahan v. Simpson, 326 S.C. 140, 485 S.E.2d 903 (1997)(to be preserved for appellate review, issues raised on appeal

must be the same as the issues raised at the trial level). See also Gurganious v. City of Beaufort, 317 S.C. 481, 488, 454 S.E.2d 912, 916 (Ct. App. 1995)(holding a party may not present one ground at trial and then change his theory on appeal). A party simply cannot keep changing its arguments at every stage of an appeal in hopes that one of the arguments will eventually prevail.

The only issues properly and consistently preserved for appellate review are whether Decedent's intent and the terms of the 2015 Will were affected by a mistake of fact and whether Decedent ratified the 2015 Will by silence. The Probate Court properly ruled on these issues and the circuit court did not err in affirming the Probate Court.

II. The Probate Court has express statutory authority to reform a will to correct a mistake of fact.

Based on clear and convincing evidence in the record, the Probate Court held that the 2015 Will was affected by a mistake of fact. Accordingly, it reformed the terms of the 2015 Will to conform to Decedent's intention as authorized by S.C. Code Ann. §62-2-601(B). As the evidence supports the Probate Court's findings and conclusions, the Circuit Court properly affirmed the Probate Court's Amended Order filed March 12, 2024.

Instead of relying on S.C. Code Ann. §62-2-601(B), Appellants rely upon another statute, an unrelated treatise, and case law from foreign jurisdictions to argue that the Probate Court lacks authority to reform the 2015 Will. (See Appellants' Brief pp. 14, 15, 17 citing S.C. Code Ann. §62-7-415, the Restatement (Third) of Property: Donative Transfers, and Curry v. Humane Society of Colorado, 433 p. 3d 172 (Colo. App. 2018)). The only relevant inquiry is S.C. Code Ann. §62-2-601(B) as relied upon by the Probate Court.

S.C. Code Ann. §62-2-601(B) provides as follows:

Notwithstanding subsection (A), the court may reform the terms of the will, even if unambiguous, to conform to the terms of the testator's intention if it is proved by clear and convincing evidence

that the testator's intent and the terms of the will were affected by a mistake of fact or law, whether an expression or inducement.

As found by the Probate Court, the facts and evidence clearly show that a mistake of fact existed and that it affected Decedent's true intentions. Rhett Taber proved, by clear and convincing evidence, that his share of the inheritance was improperly reduced based upon a mistake of fact in the inducement. The Probate Court expressly held that "reformation is the proper remedy here in that it conforms an inaccurate document to be consistent with the testator's intent, and it is preferable because the testator's intent is being honored rather than changed." (Amended Final Order, p. 6).

As thoroughly cited in the Statement of the Case *supra*, the following facts were established by clear and convincing evidence presented at trial. Rhett Taber loaned his father Decedent hundreds of thousands of dollars. Decedent and Rhett agreed that the amount of the Debt was \$340,000.00. Decedent and Rhett agreed to satisfy this \$340,000.00 Debt by Decedent conveying the 28.48 acres on Belvue School Road to Rhett. Tom Taber prepared the Spreadsheet that Decedent and Attorney Howard relied on to prepare the 2015 Will. The Spreadsheet significantly overvalued the acreage on Belvue School Road. The Spreadsheet referenced the "overpayment" to Rhett. The Spreadsheet implied that Rhett received \$620,000.00 worth of property in satisfaction of the \$340,000.00 Debt owed by Decedent to Rhett. Based on this mistake, the Spreadsheet prepared by Tom Taber, and the 2015 Will by derivation, reduced Rhett's inheritance by \$280,000.00. Realizing this mistake, Decedent started the process of rectifying the mistake using the services of Attorney Patterson. Attorney Patterson confirmed Decedent's intentions in the 2019 Patterson Correspondence. The 2019 Patterson Correspondence confirmed Decedent's

intention to restore Rhett's inheritance. For various reasons³, Decedent was unable to sign numerous estate planning documents to correct the mistake in fact prior to his death in July 2019.

Based upon these clear and convincing facts, the Probate Court properly found that Rhett's inheritance was improperly reduced in the 2015 Will based upon a mistake of fact in the inducement. (ROA p. 18). The clear and convincing evidence established that Rhett was not overpaid \$280,000.00 in connection with the satisfaction of the \$340,000.00 Debt. There was no basis in fact for Rhett's inheritance to be reduced as stated by Tom Taber on the Spreadsheet he prepared which was relied upon by Attorney Howard to prepare the 2015 Will.

Appellants cite the 1971 case of Limehouse v. Limehouse, 256 S.C. 255, 257, 182 S.E.2d 58, 59 (1971) for the proposition that a court cannot deviate "from the express terms of a will based on speculation about how a testator might have reacted to some later contingency." (Appellants' Brief p. 14). In 1971, it was true that a court could not deviate from the express terms of a will. The statute granting the Probate Court the authority to deviate from the express terms of a will was not enacted until 2014. S.C. Code Ann. §62-2-601(B) (effective January 1, 2014). The new statute clearly grants the Probate Court the authority to reform a will, "even if unambiguous." Id. The holding in Limehouse has no relevancy to the inquiry in this case.

Appellants also cite a case from Colorado for the proposition that "reformation is not available where the testator changes his mind or to correct a testator's failure to prepare and execute a new document." (Appellants' Brief p. 17 citing Curry v. Humane Society of Colorado,

³ The Probate Court found that Attorney Patterson attempted to contact Decedent to discuss the Patterson Correspondence but was "blocked from speaking to Decedent by Anne [Taber]." (ROA p. 17). This finding and conclusion is amply supported by the record. Attorney Patterson, who had nothing to gain by her testimony, clearly testified to this fact. (ROA pp. 151, 155, 157). If her testimony contained any hearsay, as now argued by Appellants, Appellants did not object contemporaneously during Attorney Patterson's testimony and this objection was not preserved for appellate review. State v. Sweet, 374 S.C. 1, 5, 647 S.E.2d 202, 205 (2007).

433 p. 3d 172 (Colo. App. 2018)). First of all, this was not the holding in Curry. The holding in Curry was simply that an ex-husband had standing to seek reformation of his ex-wife's will.

Nevertheless, Rhett is not arguing, and the Probate Court did not hold, that the 2015 Will should be reformed because Decedent changed his mind after he executed the 2015 Will. Similarly, Rhett is not arguing, and the Probate Court did not hold, that the 2015 Will should be reformed to correct Decedent's failure to prepare and execute a new will. Rhett is arguing, and the Probate Court and Circuit Court held, that the 2015 Will should be reformed because Decedent's intention and the terms of the 2015 Will were affected by a mistake of fact.

As relevant to the case at bar, Curry actually confirms that the Colorado will reformation statute similar to S.C. Code Ann. §62-2-601(B) "provides a means by which disappointed beneficiaries can litigate what they perceive to be the testator's true intent." Curry, 433 P.3d at 180 (citing Baker v. Wood, Ris & Hames, Prof'l Corp., 364 P.3d 872 (Colo. 2016)).

Appellants also argue "that there is no evidence Decedent would have considered McCravey's appraisal more accurate than his own." (Appellants' Brief, p. 18). Quite to the contrary, the record reveals that Tom Taber had the 28.48 acres on Belvue School Road appraised sometime after Decedent executed the 2015 Will. The property appraised for approximately \$327,500.00. (ROA p. 183, ll. 8-9). Decedent was apparently aware of this appraisal. (ROA p. 187, ll. 22-24). Decedent ultimately met with Attorney Patterson to correct "errors" in the 2015 Will to make it "fair" to Rhett Taber. (ROA p. 148, ll. 7-12, p. 152, ll. 10-12). Nobody even suggested that there were any other material mistakes or errors in the 2015 Will other than the mistaken disinheritance of Rhett based upon the mistaken "overpayment."

Accordingly, the evidence suggests that Decedent considered the appraisal ordered by Tom Taber to be more accurate than the values assigned to the acreage on Belvue School Road on the

Spreadsheet. The appraised value per Tom Taber's appraisal (\$327,500.00) was very close to the appraised value per McCravey (\$300,000.00). Since Decedent realized he had not overpaid Rhett for the \$340,000.00 Debt with the 28.48 acres on Belvue School Road valued at \$327,500.00, he certainly would not have considered that he had overpaid Rhett if the value of the property was only \$300,000.00 as opined by McCravey.

The bottom line is that Decedent mistakenly believed that he had overpaid Rhett Taber by \$280,000.00 when Decedent conveyed 24.48 acres on Belvue School Road to Rhett in exchange for the satisfaction of the \$340,000.00 Debt. The Spreadsheet prepared by Tom Taber and the testimony of all of the fact witnesses confirm this mistake.

The Probate Court had express authority to reform the 2015 Will based upon the mistake of fact related to the satisfaction of the \$340,000.00 debt. It is important to highlight that the Probate Court could have corrected this mistake of fact even without *any* testimony or evidence from Attorney Patterson. Attorney Patterson's testimony and the 2019 Patterson Correspondence merely serve to provide even more evidence of the mistake and Decedent's intentions in light of the mistake.

Furthermore, as confirmed by expert testimony from Dan Collins, the situation at bar is the exact scenario where the Probate Court is authorized to reform a will based upon a mistake of fact pursuant to the relatively new S.C. Code Ann. §62-2-601(B). (ROA pp. 449-452).

III. The Probate Court has authority to reform a Will to correct a mistake regardless of whether the Decedent knew about the mistake or took any steps to fix the mistake prior to his death.

Appellants argue that the Probate Court does not have authority to correct a mistake of fact because several years passed between execution of the 2015 Will and Decedent's death and Decedent did not alter his estate plan during those years. The relevant inquiry is not when, or even

if, Decedent tried to alter his estate plan after he executed the 2015 Will. The relevant inquiry is whether the 2015 Will was affected by a mistake of fact when it was executed.

As confirmed by Tom Taber's testimony and the Spreadsheet created by Tom Taber, Decedent was under the mistaken belief that he overpaid Rhett Taber by \$280,000.00 when he satisfied the \$340,000.00 Debt. Tom manipulated the Spreadsheet to create the appearance of an "overpayment" to Rhett. Based upon this mistake, Decedent reduced Rhett's inheritance by approximately \$280,000.00. These findings triggered the Probate Court's authority to reform the 2015 Will.

The Probate Court's authority to reform a will is not contingent upon a testator even knowing that there is a mistake. Furthermore, the Probate Court's authority to reform is not contingent upon a testator taking any steps to correct a mistake in a will after the fact. The mistake occurred at execution and since that mistake affected the terms of the 2015 Will, the Probate Court had authority to reform the 2015 Will to correct the mistake.

At trial, Appellants argued that Decedent ratified the mistake based upon his silence. (ROA pp, 74, 481, 517). Ratification by silence is not a defense under S.C. Code Ann. §62-2-601(B). The Probate Court has authority to correct a mistake of fact regardless of the lapse in time between the mistake and the testator's death.

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